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Preface to the second edition


The first edition of this biography appeared shortly before the 2015 general election campaign got under way and what some described as ‘Nicola-mania’ ensued. This was both a blessing and a curse, the former because it sold well and attracted a lot of attention (some positive, some negative), the latter because parts of it dated very quickly – an inescapable hazard for any political biography published while its subject is very much still alive.


A short-run reprint in July 2015 gave me a chance to correct mistakes and include a short account of the election campaign and result, but by the spring of 2016 it was clear a fuller update was necessary. Thus the original introductory chapter (‘First Minister for all of Scotland’) and conclusion (‘The Apprentice’) have been removed and replaced with new sections that cover events in 2015–16 and the repercussions of the June 2016 European referendum. Obviously, even this edition might have been overtaken by events by the time it appears in print.


I am grateful to the Society of Authors’ K. Blundell Trust Award, for financial support towards the preparation of this new edition.
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Preface


It is notoriously difficult to produce a biography of a serving politician. My previous study of the last First Minister (Salmond: Against the Odds) was not perfect when it first appeared in the autumn of 2010, and an updated paperback edition in 2011 also suffered from having been written amid ever-changing events. But such biographies are arguably necessary; more ought to be known of governing men and women beyond an occasional newspaper profile or their ‘official’ CVs.


Nicola Sturgeon is new to the office of First Minister but is also, despite only being in her mid 40s, a political veteran. She first joined the party she now leads almost 30 years ago, has been a Member of the Scottish Parliament for around 16 years and a senior minister for half that time. That, by any measurement, is a long career, yet one that remains underexamined. At the same time, this is what might be classified as an ‘interim’ biography – an initial distillation of the available (but frustratingly limited) sources.


I make no grand claims about what follows for, as close readers will note, it mainly comprises contemporary newspaper coverage augmented by interviews and also some useful academic and journalistic secondary sources. I did approach the First Minister for a ‘background’ interview, although for understandable reasons she declined, and thus this is a fully unauthorised biography. Sturgeon, however, did not seek to prevent people from speaking to me – indeed those who sought her permission were usually told to go ahead. For that I am grateful for they often provided otherwise unavailable details and insights.


Nor do I claim to really ‘know’ my subject; rather I have done what biographers do: reached conclusions based on having observed Sturgeon as a politician for around 15 years, numerous conversations with acquaintances (some closer than others) and what I hope is a judicious interpretation of her public utterances covering an even longer period. Indeed, my biographical style has always been to let my subjects speak through extensive quotation so the reader can get a feel for the politician through their own words.


In an undoubtedly mischievous letter to the Herald on 23 September 2014, Alex Salmond sought to redefine standard conceptions of what constitutes biography. First, he said, in response to a critical column I had written the day before, ‘I hardly know David Torrance’, while second, ‘and much more problematically for a biographer – he doesn’t know me at all’.1 Intimacy between writer and subject, however, is rare. James Boswell, one of the earliest modern biographers, certainly ‘knew’ Dr Johnson, but he was an exception; the Salmond criteria would render the vast majority of extant biographies – not least historical works – redundant.


More to the point, ‘authorised’ works written by friends tend, with honourable exceptions, to be unreliable, inevitably glossing over difficult areas and shirking from criticism. Many even veer into hagiography, which might suit the subject while arguably neglecting the genre’s broader aims. I first interviewed Nicola Sturgeon at length in 2003 and, most recently, towards the end of 2013, with only sporadic professional contact in between. But that to me is a strength rather than a weakness, having allowed me to take a step back and therefore deliver a more detached assessment of her as a politician. To reduce biography, as Salmond attempted to do, to an arbitrary judgement as to how well the writer ‘knows’ their subject is to miss the point entirely.


As ever, this biography would not have been possible without the contributions of others, most notably friends and colleagues of the subject. In alphabetical order Alex Bell, Fergus Bell, Ian Blackford, Dr John Boyle, Niall Bradley, Sir Harry Burns, Craig Cathcart, Malcolm Chisholm MSP, Ewan Crawford, Mike Dailly, Ian Duncan MEP, Jim Gray, Stephen Harte, Patrick Harvie MSP, Gerry Hassan, Fiona Hyslop MSP, John McAllion, Campbell Martin, Iain Martin, Claire Mitchell, Michael Moore MP, David Mundell MP, Calum Smith, Susan Stewart, Caroline Summers, Kay Ullrich, Cliff Williamson and Andrew Wilson all gave willingly of their time and memories, as well as several others who wished to remain anonymous. Staff at the Glasgow University Archives, meanwhile, helped me locate sources relating to Sturgeon’s undergraduate career.


My own friends and colleagues also provided assistance, both directly and indirectly. Ian Swanson helpfully facilitated access to contemporary news sources, Ian Smart and Alf Young put me in touch with contacts who knew and worked with Sturgeon in her pre-political career, while Murdo Fraser MSP and D. J. MacDonald, Michael Watt, John McVie and Claire Stewart of STV provided access to archive television material. Kerry Black at The Scotsman Publications also helped me track down appropriate photographs for the plates sections, while Tom Gordon of the Sunday Herald kindly let me consult his notes from several long interviews with Sturgeon. Others also read and offered comments on various draft chapters: Helen Puttick, Dr Peter Lynch, Kenny Farquharson, Stephen Boyd, Michael Torrance, Lucy Hunter Blackburn, Douglas Pattullo and particularly Euan McColm all provided additional insights into Sturgeon’s career while saving me from several silly errors. Inevitably some will remain, for which the responsibility is of course mine.


Sandra Underwood of ‘Ances-Tree’ proved invaluable in fleshing out the English branches of Sturgeon’s family tree while, for the first time in my biographical career, I had the luxury of a researcher. I took a punt on Aidan Kerr, an undergraduate at Glasgow University and I did not regret it. Bright, proactive and politically insightful beyond his 20 years, he saved me much-needed time in marshalling the contemporary newspaper sources without which this book would have been impossible to write. Finally, Nicola Sturgeon is well known to be a voracious reader, therefore I sincerely hope she finds this an accurate and balanced account of her life and career so far.


David Torrance


January 2015









Chapter 1


‘A material change in circumstances’


Man, observed the German statesman Otto von Bismarck, ‘cannot control the current of events, he can only float with them and steer’. Change the gender and he could have been talking about Nicola Sturgeon in the days and weeks that followed the UK’s decision – following a divisive referendum campaign – to withdraw from the European Union. More colloquially, a social media meme also circulated shortly after the result – an image of the First Minister, her arms outspread, and the simple message: ‘F***in’ calm doon. Am oan it.’1


The EU referendum had not been the SNP leader’s fight but arising from its surprise dénouement was a clear political opportunity and one she seized with both hands. While England and Wales voted to Leave, Scotland (like Northern Ireland and London) opted decisively to Remain. Flanked by Scottish and European flags at Bute House, Sturgeon addressed EU citizens resident in Scotland (‘you remain welcome here’) while talking up the ‘divergence’ between Scotland and ‘large parts’ of the UK ‘in how we see our place in the world’.


‘As things stand,’ the First Minister continued, ‘Scotland faces the prospect of being taken out of the EU against our will. I regard that as democratically unacceptable.’ And, referring to her party’s recent Holyrood election manifesto, Sturgeon said she was in no doubt the result represented ‘a significant and a material change’ to the circumstances in which Scotland had rejected independence in September 2014. She would, therefore, ‘take all possible steps’ to secure Scotland’s ‘continuing place in the EU and in the single market in particular’.


It was, therefore, ‘a statement of the obvious’ that the option of a second independence referendum ‘must be on the table’, to be held, should the Scottish Parliament agree, within the Brexit ‘timescale’ – i.e. the two-year negotiation period following the triggering of Article 50 under the Lisbon Treaty. Legislation would be prepared to that end while, as First Minister, she would do everything she could ‘to bring people together in common cause and to seek to lead our country forward as one’.2


That most cautious of politicians appeared to have thrown caution to the wind but, by responding as she did, Sturgeon had not only carved out a place for herself and her party in the post-Brexit landscape she had also created a sense of momentum behind the idea of another independence referendum. ‘EU GO GIRL’ was the Daily Record’s bold headline the following day3 and, indeed, she seemed to have captured the zeitgeist. Even J. K. Rowling, an ardent No voter in 2014, tweeted that many Unionists would now ‘think again’ should the question be put a second time.4 On Sunday, meanwhile, a poll for the Sunday Post showed support for independence at just short of what was understood to be the SNP’s threshold of 60 per cent.


The impact of Sturgeon’s words, meanwhile, was palpable, not just in the rest of the UK but on the Continent. As David Cameron fell on his sword and the Labour leader Jeremy Corbyn came under renewed assault from his own MPs, only the First Minister emerged looking, as the Financial Times put it, ‘composed and in control’, her response ‘not just measured but statesmanlike’.5 And as the Scottish journalist and campaigner Lesley Riddoch observed, Sturgeon therefore became ‘the calm, determined voice of reason – not just for Scots but for the Remain-voting millions across the UK and worried European citizens beyond’.6 The Toronto Star newspaper even touted her as the next British premier, thus putting ‘her in charge of righting the British ship and steering a path through the Euro mess’.7


The First Minister was, as Sky’s political editor Faisal Islam observed, ‘the only one who seems to have a plan’.8 With leading Brexiters revealed as having little idea of how to respond to the majority Leave vote, Sturgeon’s response appeared assured. Even City firms, anxious about losing the benefits of the single market, hung on ‘her every word’,9 alert to the possibility that an independent Scotland in the EU might offer prospects London could not. Nationalists were suddenly alive to the opportunities, financial and otherwise, that Brexit might offer Scotland and the economic case for independence.


A week, to deploy another hackneyed political cliché, is a long time in politics. Just days before the EU referendum stumbled towards its wretched conclusion, Nicola Sturgeon had appeared adrift, responding to events rather than controlling them. There was grumbling at all levels of the SNP about the recent Holyrood election campaign, in which the party had lost its overall majority, while its leader faced challenges both domestic and strategic. But now all that had changed, changed utterly.


One of the first things Sturgeon had done on succeeding Alex Salmond as First Minister in late 2014 was to frame the prospect of a referendum on the UK’s membership of the EU in constitutional terms. She called for a ‘double majority’ whereby Brexit could only occur should every part of the UK vote the same way. Constitutionally this made little sense, for it was a UK-wide referendum and the EU Member State in question was unitary rather than federal but the SNP leader was, of course, making a political point.


During a subsequent visit to Brussels, Sturgeon’s pro-European tone had impressed although beneath the positive meta-narrative lurked caveats. She had already spoken of making the EU ‘more democratic’ and ‘transparent’10 and, in a speech at the European Policy Centre, the First Minister went further in suggesting that Member States be freer ‘to take the decisions they deem necessary to protect life and promote health’ (i.e. the Scottish Government’s plan for minimum alcohol pricing, which the European Court of Justice later ruled breached EU free-trade laws), stressing the need for ‘collective reform of rules to guard against abuse of free movement’ and also ‘safeguards’ for non-Euro Member States, a stance not far removed from that of David Cameron


The First Minster’s central message, however, remained that, if the UK backed a Leave vote while Scotland opted to Remain, then she believed ‘the groundswell of anger among ordinary people in Scotland in these circumstances could produce a clamour for another independence referendum which may well be unstoppable’.11 In mid 2015, with the status quo enjoying a comfortable lead in the polls, this rhetoric was largely academic but, as that lead diminished over the following year, there was a discernable shift in Sturgeon’s position. She was conscious that, even were such ‘material change’ to transpire, it would need to be bolstered by a significant increase in support for independence which, hypothetical polling suggested, was unlikely.


Apart from a cogent speech to the Resolution Foundation in February 2016, however, Sturgeon understandably kept out of the European debate ahead of the Holyrood election that was due to take place a few months later. She had expressed opposition to the referendum following the devolved elections so closely (and, indeed, opposed a ballot taking place at all), and only in late May did the SNP leader return to the fray, battling to preserve what her party had, since 1988, regarded as the acceptable face of Unionism – so-called ‘independence in Europe’.


‘Of course I want Scotland to be independent,’ the First Minister took to pointing out, ‘but I don’t want Scotland to become independent because the UK chooses to leave the European Union.’12 This was a sincere position but one she often found difficult to explain to SNP members and supporters, around a third of whom intended to back Brexit. Perhaps some believed doing so would provoke another independence referendum, as Sturgeon and her predecessor, Alex Salmond, had implied, while others saw an inconsistency between arguing against one Union (the UK) and for another (the EU), a frequently articulated point the First Minister simply dismissed as ‘nonsense’.13


The two unions were, of course, very different but it did not help that many of the arguments Sturgeon deployed in defence of the EU strongly echoed those of Better Together two years earlier, not least the line that Remain would be ‘better for trade and the economy and the cultural and social links that have been forged between countries’. Pressed as to whether she was a ‘Unionist’ for the purposes of 23 June 2016, the First Minister replied: ‘I wouldn’t use that term. I would call myself a Europhile, an enthusiastic European.’14


Elsewhere Sturgeon indulged in ‘friendly fire’ towards the umbrella Remain campaign ‘Britain Stronger in Europe’, repeatedly accusing it of not being positive enough and, in response to a Treasury analysis of the economic consequences of Brexit, warning that ‘fear-based campaigning, when it starts to insult people’s intelligence’ could have ‘a negative effect’.15 Not only did the Scottish Government fail to provide any alternative figures but such lines were also then quoted back at the First Minister when she took part in an ITV debate alongside Labour’s Angela Eagle and the Conservative MP Amber Rudd (despite having said she would not share a platform with Tories).


‘I agree with Nicola!’ was therefore one of Boris Johnson’s better lines in that debate, in which the First Minister performed well but without recapturing the magic of the 2015 general election campaign. And, as the polls narrowed even further, Sturgeon even resorted to her own Project Fear, warning that a vote to Leave the EU could see Scots at the mercy of the ‘most right-wing Tory government in modern history’, while also leading to ‘profound consequences for the future of the health service right across the UK’.16


Ahead of polling day and with the outcome on a knife edge, Sturgeon told MSPs that ‘all options to protect our relationship with Europe and the European Union’ (including another independence referendum) would be ‘considered’,17 while she made a point of pleading with Yes supporters in more unequivocal terms: ‘If you are basing your decision on what it means for independence, let me be very clear – the only sensible and logical vote is one for Scotland to remain in Europe.’18


On polling day Sturgeon arrived at the SNP’s Edinburgh headquarters to watch the results with aides and colleagues. There followed a dramatic few hours in which the presumption of a narrow Remain vote gave way to the realisation that Leave had pulled ahead. The First Minister arrived at her official residence at 6 a.m. on Friday morning to prepare her response while staffers put in calls to Green co-leader Patrick Harvie and the Prime Minister, to whom Sturgeon offered her sympathies while making it clear her government would bypass Westminster and negotiate directly with Brussels.


Initially, a press conference was scheduled for 10 a.m. but then pushed back to 11 a.m. It was delayed again when it emerged that three Leave-supporting MPs, Boris Johnson, Michael Gove and Gisela Stuart, would be responding to the result at the same time. Sturgeon watched this oddly sombre trio before addressing journalists at Bute House. Significantly, at the end of her statement and in response to a question from BBC Scotland’s Glenn Campbell about how ‘likely’ she considered a second referendum, the First Minister responded that it was ‘highly likely’, a pregnant phrase that dominated subsequent press coverage, although she had used a similar form of words a few months previously.19


By the following morning, however, Sturgeon’s mood was more cautious. Following an emergency meeting of the Scottish Cabinet she said a second independence referendum was ‘clearly an option’ while making it clear her goal was to ‘protect’ Scotland’s relationship with the EU and its ‘place in the single market’, a subtle shift from her original position which implied the latter to be a priority. An advisory panel, meanwhile, would be appointed to advise her and the Scottish Government on matters ‘legal, financial and diplomatic’ and, as part of continuing efforts to reassure EU citizens resident in Scotland, Sturgeon would be inviting consul generals of all Member States to a ‘summit’ at Bute House.


Finally, Sturgeon pledged not to take her ‘eye off the ball of the day-to-day business of government’. ‘As Westminster is engulfed in political turmoil and as a vacuum of leadership develops,’ she added, ‘I want to make clear that Scotland is led by a stable and effective government.’20 With that the First Minister walked back into Bute House, ignoring shouted questions from journalists. ‘If you can keep your head when all around are losing theirs,’ the poet Rudyard Kipling had written in another gender-specific aphorism, ‘you will be a man, my son.’


Nicola Sturgeon had a knack for finding the right words in any given situation, for striking the right tone. But that was the easy bit. The following day the Mail on Sunday splashed on what it claimed was the likely Brussels response to the First Minister’s overtures, chiefly that, while EU chiefs were sympathetic, their position was essentially unchanged from that in 2014 – if Scotland wanted to remain part of the Union, then it would need to seek its independence from the UK first and then apply in the usual way.


Elsewhere in the Sunday papers Jim Sillars, architect of the SNP’s ‘independence in Europe’ policy and, like Sturgeon, a former deputy leader of the party, said the ‘perception’ now taking hold was that the First Minister was ‘committed to an early referendum’, something he judged ‘she cannot deliver’. ‘The vote was on the UK in or out of the EU,’ he continued. ‘The ballot paper did not say Scotland in or out. By campaigning in England, Nicola gave legitimacy to it being a UK vote on the UK’s future.’21 The constitutional lawyer-turned-Scottish Conservative MSP Adam Tomkins later made the same point – that 62 per cent of Scots had voted for the UK (rather than Scotland) to Remain part of the EU. And while Sturgeon did not ignore the 38 per cent of Scots who had voted Leave, she preferred to emphasise that every local authority area in the country had backed Remain by a majority.


In a round of television interviews, meanwhile, Sturgeon shifted tone once again,22 repeating several times that in attempting to ‘protect’ Scotland’s position in the EU her ‘starting point’ was not independence or even another referendum although, if it became ‘obvious that the only way we can protect Scotland’s interests is by looking again at independence then that’s an option that Scotland has to have’.23 Now that temperatures had cooled a little, attention shifted to the case the SNP might make should another referendum occur. There were obvious challenges for many of the difficulties associated with the independence proposition two years earlier – chiefly concerning economics, currency and borders – had not gone away.


Without addressing these points in any detail Sturgeon promised ‘an honest conversation at every step of the way’ although, if, as she said in one interview, the UK leaving the EU would be ‘deeply damaging, economically, socially, culturally’,24 it prompted the obvious rejoinder that Scotland leaving an even more integrated Union (with greater fiscal transfers) would be even more so. Currency was an issue, she conceded, ‘we have to work our way through’,25 but did not ‘want to see in any circumstances a border between Scotland and England’, which of course was a desire rather than a coherent position.


‘I’m not saying there are not questions and challenges that Scotland would have to face up to,’ the First Minister told the BBC’s Andrew Marr. ‘I’m not suggesting for a second that the path ahead is without complexity.’26 Answers to all these questions, she admitted, could not be ‘conjured up instantaneously’ but, if there was another referendum, it would ‘not just be a re-run’ of that in 2014 because the United Kingdom that Scots had voted to remain part of did not ‘exist any more’.27 Later, SNP sources briefed that, this time, ‘senior figures would admit that independence carries economic risks, costs and short-term pain’.28


So, despite Sturgeon’s assured response to the Brexit vote and despite plans (albeit delayed) to proceed with a summer independence ‘initiative’ intended to win over sceptical Unionists, victory in another referendum was not a given. The First Minister, however, remained on impressive form in the week that followed. On Tuesday, she addressed the Scottish Parliament, arguing that turbulent times called for ‘principles, purpose and clarity’, announcing membership of her ‘Standing Council’ of European experts and telling MSPs it was ‘vital’ to ‘seize the chance’ to ensure Scotland’s voice was ‘heard as widely as possible: in London, in Brussels, and by Member States across Europe’.29


On Wednesday, Sturgeon flew to Brussels and met Martin Schulz, President of the European Parliament, leaders of political groups and, most importantly, Jean-Claude Juncker, the President of the European Commission, who later declared that Scotland had ‘won the right to be heard in Brussels’. But there was the expected caveat. Neither he nor Donald Tusk, President of the European Council, intended to ‘interfere in the British process’. Spain and France similarly made it clear that any negotiations would take place between the EU and UK, not parts of the UK, although Germany and Ireland were more positive. Speaking to international journalists, Sturgeon seemed content, saying she had ‘found a willingness to listen: open doors, open ears and open minds’ and she, therefore, left Brussels ‘in good heart’.30


The First Minister’s trip to the EU capital had, of course, served another purpose, demonstrating to voters back home that she was ‘standing up for Scotland’ both internationally and domestically. Facing the Scottish Parliament for the second time that week, Sturgeon again reiterated her intention to ‘give effect to what Scotland voted for’, rejecting the idea that it could be ‘ripped’ or ‘dragged’ out of the EU ‘against our will’.31


On 2 July, Her Majesty the Queen formerly opened the fifth session of the Scottish Parliament with a studiously anodyne speech which acknowledged the difficulty of ‘staying calm and collected’ in ‘such a fast-moving world’.32 Sturgeon, who as ever was both calm and collected, responded with more ostentatiously political remarks about the nature of modern Scotland:




We are the grandchildren and great-grandchildren of the thousands who came from Ireland to work in our shipyards and our factories. We are the 80,000 Polish people, the 8,000 Lithuanians, the 7,000 each from France, Spain, Germany, Italy and Latvia, who are among the many from countries beyond our shores that we are so privileged to have living here amongst us. We are the more than half a million people born in England, Wales and Northern Ireland, who have chosen to live in Scotland.





So, as MSPs celebrated ‘this new beginning’, concluded the First Minister, ‘let us look forward with hope and a shared determination to work tirelessly for the good of all of Scotland’s people – and in doing so, to play our part in a stronger Europe and a better world.’33


As Holyrood entered its summer recess, Westminster geared up for two leadership elections – one to select a new Conservative leader (and therefore Prime Minister), another an attempt at resolving Labour’s internal squabbles. They were heady days and, after Home Secretary Theresa May emerged as David Cameron’s successor, her first official engagement was an Edinburgh meeting with the First Minister.


Given the new Prime Minister had declared ‘Brexit means Brexit’, it seemed unlikely she and Nicola Sturgeon (who retorted ‘Remain means Remain’) would have much of a rapport. Both, however, were business-like women who cared little for small talk and, following their encounter at Bute House (flanked by two Saltires, the Union flag conspicuous by its absence) the SNP leader acknowledged the wider symbolism of the occasion with a Tweet of the two leaders shaking hands: ‘Politics aside – I hope girls everywhere look at this photograph and believe nothing should be off limits for them.’34


But, while May had done her best to appear constructive, making it clear she would only trigger Article 50 once a UK-wide negotiating stance had been agreed with the devolved administrations, a few days later she also said certain scenarios, such as Scotland doing a ‘reverse Greenland’ were off limits or, as she put it in the House of Commons, ‘impracticable’.35 Sturgeon responded with a speech setting out the ‘vital interests’ (‘democracy, economic prosperity, social protection, solidarity and influence’) she was seeking to ‘safeguard’,36 although political opponents claimed the First Minister did so content in the knowledge they would likely fail.


By late summer 2016 there were also signs Sturgeon might have over-reached when it came to promising a second referendum. A YouGov poll found no real post-Brexit boost for independence support, while former Scottish Cabinet minister Alex Neil cautioned against the SNP being ‘stampeded’ into holding a ‘premature and unnecessarily risky’ second ballot.37 A trip to Berlin, meanwhile, might have kept Scotland on the EU’s radar, but yielded little for Sturgeon beyond another photo-call and praise (from a junior German minister) as a ‘dedicated pro-European’.38


Back in Scotland a proxy war between the ‘impatient’ and ‘cautious’ wings of the party was also evident in the SNP depute leadership campaign, but nevertheless those who witnessed Sturgeon during those weeks and months saw a politician with an undeniable spring in her step, a sense of purpose that would provide form and momentum to her first full term as First Minister. At the same time, she must have been conscious of the challenges ahead: initiate another independence referendum too soon and she might lose, compelling her to resign, as had Alex Salmond and David Cameron in similar circumstances; proceed with typical caution and put the question again in 2018, on the other hand, and she could well win, securing her place in early 21st-century history but then finding herself faced with undeniable challenges at the birth of a new nation. There were, as Sturgeon said herself, no easy options, but it was clear she intended to steer the current of events towards an independent Scotland.









Chapter 2


‘A working-class girl from Ayrshire’


Nicola Sturgeon was born on 19 July 1970 at Ayrshire Central Hospital in Irvine. Her parents were Robert (known as Robin), an electrician, and Joan, a dental nurse (Joan’s maiden name of Ferguson would become their new daughter’s middle name). At that time the couple lived at 17 Newdykes Road in the coastal town of Prestwick.


Robin and Joan had only married on Boxing Day the previous year, aged 21 and 17 respectively. In those days, unmarried parents were still a relative rarity, although the relationship must have had a solid – and loving – basis, for the couple remained happily married more than four decades later when their daughter became First Minister of Scotland. ‘They were really young when I was born,’ reflected Sturgeon in 2015. ‘I guess their own life experiences at that time must have been fairly limited.’1


A sister, Gillian, followed in 1975, by which point the Sturgeons had moved to a terraced council house in Dreghorn, where they remain to this day (they moved when Nicola was one). Joan hailed from Prestwick, the daughter of a ‘process foreman’, while, at the time of his marriage, Robin lived at a ‘tied’ cottage called ‘The Croft’ in Dunure. This was actually quite modern, having recently replaced the previous derelict gardener’s cottage.


Robin’s father, also christened Robert, was a gardener for the local estate house, and his mother was Margaret, the daughter of a shipwright called Joseph Mill. She died in 2001 aged 80, although more than a decade later her grand-daughter frequently referred to her during the long independence debate, citing her ‘English granny’ (also an SNP voter) as proof that Scottish Nationalism was not Anglophobic. ‘My granny was English,’ said Sturgeon in late 2014, ‘and if she had been alive during the referendum she would have voted Yes.’2


That ‘English granny’, Margaret Mill, was actually partly Scottish, and her family tree illustrated internal migration between Scotland and England common then as now. Her mother’s parents, William and Mary Jane Wilcock (or Willcock – the spelling was not consistent), were a shoemaker and confectioner originally from Leeds in Yorkshire who spent at least a few years in Galashiels in the early 1880s, while her father Joseph Mill was from an Anglo-Scottish family – his father Robert, a hairdresser’s assistant, had been born in Arbroath but moved with his first wife Christian Mill and two children to Durham in the late 1860s or early 1870s. Robert’s second wife Alma was Margaret’s grandmother, and she was from Sunderland.3


Margaret had been born in Ryhope’s Arthur Street (which was not far from Scotland Street) in 1920. Once home to shipyard workers and miners, the area shared an industrial heritage similar to parts of Scotland. In 1943, she married Robert Sturgeon, Nicola’s paternal grandfather, at St Paul’s Parish Church, not far from where she grew up. Eventually, they moved back to the south-west of Scotland.4 (Sturgeon later recalled spending ‘many childhood summers’ in Ryhope, and even felt ‘a little part’ of her belonged to the English village.)5


Writing in The Sunday Times shortly after the 2007 Scottish Parliament election, Sturgeon had clear memories of frequent visits to see Margaret and her husband in Dunure, which was about 30 miles away from her childhood home. She remembered, ‘For me, the whole place was just one big adventure playground. The place had hens, cats and dogs, as well as a burn running through it, so you can imagine what it was like being a child in such an environment. It was such a great place to play. Out the back of the new cottage, through a gate and across a field, was a beach and the sea. It was fantastic. The property may have been small, but as a kid it felt huge.’


For a while, Sturgeon’s great-grandmother lived with her grandparents, which necessitated some juggling of rooms. Of all the pieces of furniture, what stuck in her mind was a rocking chair, on which she would sit with her granny. Occasionally Sturgeon would help her granddad with his work which, as she recalled, ‘meant being able to stuff my face with strawberries’. Both grandparents, she admitted, ‘spoiled’ her ‘rotten’, although Robert died when she was seven, meaning Margaret had to move to another house in the village.


Even more than three decades later the place retained a ‘mystique’ for Sturgeon, and she speculated that it was probably at that cottage when she first began to develop a sense of who she was and how she could express herself. ‘It was definitely a place to experiment and have adventures,’ she recalled. ‘Having that space and freedom probably did shape me into becoming an independent person.’6


The name Sturgeon belonged mainly in the shires of Dumfries and Kirkcudbright, although it may not have been native to Ayrshire. Ferguson, Nicola’s middle name and her mother’s maiden name, was also common in the county, derived from Robert I’s gift of land to Fergus, son of Fergus, although it was widely scattered and, like Sturgeon, may not have originated in Ayrshire.


Robin Sturgeon, Nicola’s father, had been born at ‘The Croft’, as had his father before him. Robert Sturgeon, Nicola’s grandfather, and James, her great-grandfather, had been gardeners in Dunure, the latter the son of a farmer also called James. Before that the Sturgeons were ploughmen, while the Fergusons – a Prestwick-based family – worked mainly on the railways, as engineers, porters and lorrymen, although further back one described himself as a ‘waterman’.


So Sturgeon’s family background, paternal and maternal, was, in her own words, ‘a fairly standard, normal, working-class family’,7 as were the village and town that formed the backdrop to her childhood. Dreghorn was a small, quiet village two miles east of Irvine, a much larger North Ayrshire settlement. Both were historic. During the development of new housing, a large prehistoric site was discovered to the north of Dreghorn’s Main Street, making it perhaps the oldest continuously inhabited village in the UK.


Dreghorn’s most famous son (until the appearance of a notable daughter) was John Boyd Dunlop, inventor of the pneumatic tyre, while Irvine could boast the American writer Edgar Allan Poe, who had briefly attended its old grammar school, as well as Jack McConnell, Sturgeon’s predecessor but one as First Minister. Although Irvine had been one of Scotland’s earliest capitals, later it was best known as a New Town, a relic of the post-war consensus dedicated to full employment and good public housing. Although much maligned aesthetically, New Towns such as Irvine actually achieved many of their employment targets (they were intended to attract light manufacturing) while providing thousands of West Coast Scots with comfortable housing for the first time in their lives.


A quango, the Irvine Development Corporation (IDC), would have been a fixture of Sturgeon’s childhood, established, along with four others, to oversee the town’s modernisation. The orthodoxy of the period dictated that this involve the demolition of swathes of the old Irvine, although the Irvine Beach Park and Magnum Leisure Centre (later demolished), proved more enduring and popular – as a teenager Sturgeon would go to Frosty’s ice disco at the Magnum every Saturday night.


The early 1970s was an optimistic time in this part of North Ayrshire. The local press was full of articles about Irvine’s ‘dynamic future’ under the IDC. George Younger, the Ayr MP and newly-appointed undersecretary for development in Edward Heath’s Conservative government, visited shortly after Sturgeon was born, witnessing the first phase of the town centre regeneration to the north of the old Bridgegate. The Queen’s Baton had also just passed through en route to Edinburgh for the 1970 Commonwealth Games.


Politically the area was solid Labour territory. David Lambie was the MP for Central Ayrshire (as he would be until 1983, before serving as the Member for Cunninghame South until 1992), the constituency that included both Dreghorn and Irvine, although there was modest SNP activity. In August 1970, Winnie Ewing had opened the party’s ‘Alba Club’ in Kilwinning, its first social club in the West of Scotland. Jim Sillars had recently become the MP for South Ayrshire following a by-election, although it was to be another decade before he joined the SNP, and even longer before a poster of him would adorn Sturgeon’s teenage bedroom wall. Only much later did she learn that one of her uncles ‘had been a member of the SNP back in the 1960s’,8 although in other accounts it was a grandfather, ‘though’, as she recalled in 2007, she ‘only discovered that after his death’. ‘You think you’re a trail-blazer,’ added Sturgeon, ‘and it turns out it’s been in your genes all along.’9


Despite a bold vision of urban regeneration – Irvine’s new multimillion-pound shopping centre opened in 1975 – by the time Sturgeon began primary school that year the New Town had been hit by a slump in British industry. Long before the era associated with Margaret Thatcher began, old economic certainties were beginning to break down, taking with them jobs in parts of the UK like North Ayrshire.


Shelley Jofre, who was a year older than Sturgeon and later became a BBC journalist, remembers Dreghorn Primary as a ‘nice wee local school’, although in retrospect she could ‘understand the poverty there was – you don’t appreciate that as a kid’. Several years later, as Deputy First Minister, Sturgeon tweeted about her old primary school being converted into Scotland’s first sake brewery. In the 1980s, however, ‘it was a nice place to grow up,’ recalled Jofre. ‘There was a decent sense of community, even though during the marching season we would get [Orange Order] bands coming right through Dreghorn.’10 Making a surprise visit to her old school shortly after becoming First Minister, Sturgeon said her experiences there ‘had a huge role in shaping’ her life.11 She had her first crush, a boy called Colin, in primary seven.


At this point, politics did not impinge on Sturgeon’s life (one early memory was getting her ‘first proper bike’ as a Christmas present when she was about five12), although she later told profilers of a political memory, ‘very vague’, ‘no more than a sliver’, of coming downstairs on the morning of 2 March 1979 to hear her parents – SNP voters but not activists – discussing the result of the first, controversial, devolution referendum. Political talk, however, did not dominate the kitchen table, and later Sturgeon could not remember either of her parents ‘trying to persuade [her] politically one way or the other’.13


‘THE GREAT DEVO DEBATE GOES ON’ read a headline in the following week’s Irvine Times, a reference to the feeling that plans for a devolved Scottish Assembly, defeated by the ‘40 per cent rule’ represented unsettled business, and indeed a debate that would dominate Sturgeon’s formative years and beyond. The subsequent general election reinforced Central Ayrshire’s position as a safe Labour seat, the SNP peak of 1974–77 having become a trough the previous year.


But nor was Ayrshire, and nor would it ever really become, what in 1980s parlance could be described as a Tory-free zone. George Younger, about to become Secretary of State for Scotland, held on to his seat, as did the Conservative John Corrie in Bute and North Ayrshire, while in the first elections to the European Parliament a month later the Conservatives won the largest share of the Scottish vote and returned Alasdair Hutton, a BBC Scotland announcer, for the South of Scotland constituency.


But, if the tectonic plates of post-war economic consensus had begun to shift in the era of Harold Wilson and Jim Callaghan, they began to produce tremors just as Sturgeon was about to transfer to her local secondary school, Greenwood Academy, situated not far from her home in Dreghorn. One of the village’s main industries was coal mining, and by the early 1980s most mines in the area had already closed (i.e. under previous Labour and Tory governments).


According to Sturgeon, it was at this point, with Mrs Thatcher’s monetarist experiment at its destructive height, that politics ‘became an issue’ for her personally. ‘I began to take an interest in what was going on around me.’14 As she told an interviewer in the summer of 2014, ‘When I was at Greenwood Academy, unemployment was very high and I was acutely aware of a sense of hopelessness among a lot of people I was at school with. They would leave school and, through no fault of their own, not go on to do well.’


Her memory extended beyond school. ‘There was also very strong fear, particularly among my dad’s generation,’ recalled Sturgeon, ‘that if you lost your job, you might be unemployed for the rest of your life.’ Although Robin Sturgeon was in work throughout the 1980s, this was a legitimate fear – according to one survey, by 1987, 12,000 people in Irvine were out of work. (Sturgeon’s first job was selling ‘tattie scones round the doors’ when she was 14. ‘I hated it so much,’ she later recalled, ‘my poor dad always ended up doing it for me.’)15


A decision taken by Sturgeon’s parents also highlights the contradictions of the era: although fiercely anti-Thatcher, they were nevertheless prepared to take advantage of Thatcherite policies, buying (for £8,400) their terraced council house in May 1984 on what was known as ‘the Annick estate’ having previously rented it from the Scottish Special Housing Association. ‘What played on me then,’ recalled Sturgeon, ‘is that we had a right-wing, uncaring Tory Government that we didn’t vote for doing significant damage to the fabric of our society. That just seemed wrong to me.’16 Ironically, as a minister 20 years later, Sturgeon would oversee the dismantling of the ‘Right to Buy’ policy from which her parents had benefitted.


Certain teachers at Greenwood Academy clearly helped shape Sturgeon’s thinking as she took a closer interest in politics between the ages of 14 and 16. She attended a large non-denominational school and there were two members of staff in particular who had an effect on her – ‘one positively and the other negatively’. She recalled, ‘My modern studies teacher wasn’t an SNP supporter but I think he was the one who awakened a real political interest in me. On the other had, my English teacher at the time was a Labour councillor who I think assumed I would automatically join the Labour Party. Looking back, perhaps my decision to join the SNP when I did was as much to prove a point to him that there was a real alternative to Labour in Scotland.’17


In a 1999 interview, Sturgeon was clear her English teacher’s assumption ‘was the spur’ that made her join the SNP18 while, in a more recent interview, she was more explicit about the contrarian nature of her decision: ‘What made me join was a conversation with my English teacher, who was a Labour councillor. He knew I was interested in politics and assumed without even asking me that I would join the Labour Party. He actually brought me a membership application form. That was the catalyst. I thought: “Stuff you, I’m going to join the SNP.” ’19


‘I would have got to the SNP anyway,’ Sturgeon told this author in late 2013, making the story sound less contrarian, ‘but the fact that I joined at that particular moment in time was probably an act of rebellion against him as much as anything else.’20 (Other interviewers, meanwhile, were told the impetus had been a debating competition at Greenwood Academy, a party broadcast and a school trip to the Houses of Parliament at Westminster.)


Sturgeon was attracted, as she later explained, by the SNP’s ‘vision and ideals’, believing them to be something she ‘could get behind and genuinely campaign for’. Even aged 16, she remembered, Labour seemed ‘to have something quite sterile about it, being more about people making their own careers than about the ideals of politics’.21 Whatever the case, joining the SNP – or indeed any political party – aged only 16 was an unusual thing to do. In a 2012 speech, Sturgeon sought to put her decision in context: ‘Down the years, many people have asked me why I ended up in the SNP and not the Labour Party. Why did a young girl, growing up in a working class family in the west of Scotland – a part of the country where in those days, they would joke that the Labour vote was weighed rather than counted; someone who was, just like Labour was in those days, anti-Trident and pro-social justice . . . why does that person end up in the SNP instead of Labour. The reason is simple. I joined the SNP because it was obvious to me then – as it still is today – that you cannot guarantee social justice unless you are in control of the delivery.’22 If true, it was a strikingly mature analysis for a 16-year-old to have reached. In any case, the modern studies teacher in question was Roy Kelso, who also had a ‘big influence’ on Shelley Jofre, who was in the year above Sturgeon at Greenwood Academy. ‘Mr Kelso stood apart from the other teachers as he was very liberal, laid back and good fun,’ recalled Jofre, ‘and if you had an interest in politics then his classes were the highlight of the week because you got to argue about politics all day.’23 Kelso himself later remembered Sturgeon as ‘a very nice young lady’, polite and hard working but also ‘quite serious’. Later, as he watched her career develop, he would think to himself, ‘Nicola, smile please.’24


Gillian, Sturgeon’s younger sister, also recalled a certain seriousness. ‘Nicola and I played together but we were like chalk and cheese,’ she recalled. ‘I was into dolls and everything girly; Nicola was into sitting reading. She did once cut the hair off my Sindy doll, just for fun. I was a lot quieter. She was a very strong-minded wee girl. I would just do what I was told. I didn’t like getting a row. But Nicola would challenge.’ Sturgeon, however, denied the doll torture but later admitted ditching the ‘Ayrshire tongue’ and affecting both the accent and ‘patter’ associated with Glasgow, long before she became an adopted Glaswegian. ‘It drove’, she recalled in 2002, ‘my mother mad.’25


‘She was a quiet and studious child,’ remembered Joan Sturgeon in an interview shortly before her daughter became First Minister. ‘She loved books from a very early age. She read before she went to school. Nicola was desperate to learn. She got quite frustrated, so we sat with her and she was easy to teach. Nicola would lift a newspaper at the age of four and try to read it.’26 At her fifth birthday party, Sturgeon recalled hiding under a table reading a book while the other children played. ‘I wasn’t particularly outgoing,’ she reflected, ‘but then – I’m always slightly worried this sounds a wee bit overly grand – there was always just a sense I had something inside me.’27


However, as Joan Sturgeon recalled, her daughter ‘was very driven’28 but also, paradoxically, quite shy. When the comedian Rory Bremner later asked Sturgeon what the First Minister ‘of today’ would say to her 16-year-old self, she replied, ‘Lighten up . . . and then the girl of sixteen would say eff off.’29


Later, Sturgeon observed that she was ‘pretty focused’, a trait she reckoned came from her mother, while her father was more ‘laid-back . . . quite jovial’.30 But the ‘most important value’ instilled in her as a child (‘almost before I can remember’) was ‘that you do your best, you work hard and the sky is the limit. There is nothing in your background that inherently holds you back or means you can’t achieve what others can achieve. You are the master of your own fate, and if you work hard you can do what you want.’31


Given the modest nature of Sturgeon’s background, not to mention the growing inequality that would become a feature of the 1980s, her belief that there was nothing ‘inherently’ holding working-class children back was one at odds with other aspects of her developing worldview.


In a perceptive profile published in November 2014, the journalist Peter Ross posited that, for the teenage Sturgeon, books were ‘an escape, an adventure’, with her voracious reading habits providing a glimpse of her character, then as now: ‘interior; introverted; interested in the lives of others yet not entirely at ease in the living crowd; in regular need of quiet contemplation and consolation.’32


As a teenager, for example, Sturgeon read Lewis Grassic Gibbon’s Sunset Song, a novel that chimed with her nascent belief in Scottish independence. ‘It seemed to speak to me,’ she recalled, ‘at a time when other things were taking shape in my head.’33 This suggested a romantic or ‘existential’ element to Sturgeon’s Nationalism, although much later she would prefer to place herself as a ‘utilitarian’. But, at 16, she was also reading the historic novels of Nigel Tranter, thus her thinking ‘might have been more of a heart rather than a head thing’, at least initially.34


Music was also in the air and, in 1987, Sturgeon recalled the ‘perverse pride’ of her hometown being mentioned in a successful pop song. ‘Bathgate no more, Linwood no more, Methil no more, Irvine no more’ rang a dirge-like line in The Proclaimers’ hit single ‘Letter From America’, even though, as Sturgeon herself noted, there had been no ‘single cataclysmic event’ in Irvine that merited its inclusion. ‘But it also solidified the feeling I had – which took me into politics – that things weren’t as they should be and places like Irvine should be doing much better,’ she recalled. ‘There was a sense of the damage being done and the song reflected that. For someone like me, who was young and becoming active in politics, it became a political anthem. I drove my mum and dad mad playing it constantly.’35 Sturgeon also idolised the television presenter Cilla Black and the English new wave band Duran Duran, skating to ’80s songs like theirs at an ice disco in Irvine. ‘I’m just an Eighties girl at heart,’ she said in 2015.’36


Sturgeon’s sister remembered CND badges being more prominent in Nicola’s bedroom than posters of pop stars, and indeed she recalled the issue that angered her most as a teenager being that of nuclear weapons. ‘It was one of the first issues,’ she reflected in 1999, ‘I remember being particularly passionate about.’37 It is not clear whether Sturgeon formally joined the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament (whose logo had inspired the SNP’s in the late 1960s) but she said several times during the referendum campaign that she ‘was in the CND before [she] was in the SNP’38 although, given that only the Nationalists ‘took an unequivocal stance against nuclear weapons’,39 the path to party membership was clear. In a 1988 Certificate of Sixth Year Studies essay, Sturgeon urged the UK government ‘on moral, economic and political grounds . . . not [to] go ahead with the purchase and installation of the US Trident missile system’. Britain, she added, ought to ‘have the courage to stand up and put a halt to the increasing nuclear madness which prevails in the world today’,40 a point she would make consistently for the next three decades.


Although the UK’s nuclear ‘deterrents’ were based several miles away on the Clyde, they must have appeared a peripheral concern to those suffering from the impact of de-industrialisation, the effects of which lingered in Scotland longer than in other parts of the country. The miners’ strike of 1984–85 had also hit Ayrshire hard, while rolling teachers’ strikes at around the same time had done much to harden previously sympathetic Scottish voters against Mrs Thatcher’s second government. Sturgeon noticed the impact, not just in terms of housing conditions and unemployment, but its broader effects on inequality, which had been increasing since the late 1970s.


By 1987, the woman most closely associated, for good or ill, with these changes was about to submit her government to the country for a third time so, one evening in May 1987, Nicola Sturgeon, just two months shy of her 17th birthday, stood at the entrance to ‘Tulsa’, a bungalow at the end of a quiet culde-sac in Dreghorn, and rang the doorbell of 43-year-old Kay Ullrich (‘a friend of the family’ according to Joan Sturgeon41) who, as in 1983, was contesting the Labour-held Cunninghame South constituency on behalf of the SNP. ‘We were just about to go out leafleting and there she was on the doorstep,’ recalled Ullrich, a former Butlin’s redcoat as exuberant as Nicola was shy. “Hello, Mrs Ullrich, can I help you with your campaign?” So she came in, then out she went leafleting.’


But before Sturgeon started banging on doors Ullrich, a social worker at Crosshouse Hospital, signed her up for party membership, or rather that of the Young Scottish Nationalists (YSN), a youth organisation affiliated to the SNP. ‘She was’, added Ullrich fondly, ‘very intense.’42 And also reserved. ‘I was a shy teenager so it was a big thing for me,’ recalled Sturgeon of pushing that doorbell. ‘I’d been trying to pluck up the courage for a long time . . . I didn’t know what reception I would get. Did they want a 16-year-old hanging about? I wasn’t a naturally extrovert teenager. My instinct would be to sit in my room and watch the election on telly. You know, I could easily not have decided to take that step. But I did, and the rest is history.’43


Later, Joan Sturgeon said her daughter’s decision ‘came as no surprise’,44 particularly as she, her husband and mother-in-law were all SNP voters. What Sturgeon probably did not realise, however, is that Ullrich’s chances of victory were slim, not least because the incumbent MP David Lambie was defending the second-largest Labour majority in Scotland. Ullrich’s campaign majored on unemployment. The Tories, she argued, had ‘ruthlessly closed’ Gartcosh, and Ravenscraig, she predicted, was ‘next on the hit list’. She also had a message for ‘young Scots’, which of course included Sturgeon. ‘Their teachers have had to go on strike to get a decent wage,’ said Ullrich. ‘Their schools are run down. Their chances of getting an apprenticeship or into university have declined. Many of them face a future on the dole or on temporary, cheap labour schemes.’


The Labour Party, naturally, did not escape the SNP candidate’s attention. ‘Over the last eight years Labour have proved unable to protect Scotland,’ argued Ullrich. ‘The Labour Party cannot win in the United Kingdom and whether or not they win in Scotland makes no difference.’ Therefore the only choice for the ‘people of Scotland’ at the election was ‘another Thatcher government or a Scottish Government’ and the SNP, she believed, would ‘win Scotland a better deal’.45


This framing of the election reflected Nationalist strategy at that time and, although clever, it proved relatively ineffective, not just in Cunninghame South but also more generally. Sturgeon, recalled Ullrich, had ‘just absolutely blossomed’ during the campaign although, in her naivety, she believed Kay would become an MP because she was the best candidate, the best performer at local hustings and therefore deserved to win.


On election day, Sturgeon helped out at Fencedyke polling station, where Ullrich remembers her being ‘incensed’ at the sight of Labour agents wearing party badges on one lapel and a CND logo on the other.46 The count that evening was at the Magnum Leisure Centre and the weather was dismal. Ullrich secured just 4,115 votes while Lambie increased his majority by around 5,000. ‘We came fourth and I was devastated,’ remembered Sturgeon. ‘It was my first lesson in electoral defeat – though not my last.’47


The SNP increased its share of the vote by 2.2 per cent and won only three MPs overall, including a young Alex Salmond in Banff and Buchan, and in Ullrich’s speech at the count she channelled another Nationalist campaigning theme by declaring that ‘Doomsday is here now’, although it was not quite true. The so-called ‘doomsday scenario’ had predicted that Scotland would end up with a Conservative government but no Conservative MPs, but although the party’s share of the vote had dipped to 25 per cent and it had lost 11 MPs, there still remained ten Tory MPs including George Younger (just) in Ayr. ‘Labour are going to have to answer the question: “What are they going to do for Scotland?” now that England has voted Tory,’ continued Ullrich. ‘We might have lost the battle but the war for Scotland is just beginning.’48


This experience of helping fight – and also helping lose – a local election campaign cannot be underestimated in terms of Sturgeon’s political development. Not only had she volunteered at an age when most teenagers would have had other, less lofty, concerns, Sturgeon had then chapped on doors in a part of Scotland where the reception must often have been less than convivial. At the same time, it must have boosted her confidence, not only the initial experience of conquering her shyness, but then to find herself surrounded by other young activists committed to the same cause.


Her decision to join the SNP rather than Labour, meanwhile, was proof that Sturgeon was not thinking purely in terms of a future political career. As she recalled of attending her first constituency party meeting, there was ‘great jubilation’ because the SNP ‘had gone into double figures in the opinion polls’.49 The party was in fact enjoying a period of relative stability and unity having come close to falling apart in the early 1980s. Party leader Gordon Wilson had sought to move the party on to more moderate territory in terms of its stance on the then European Community (against), NATO (also against) and devolution (against with caveats). Recent campaigns on the steel industry, coal and education, meanwhile, had given the party a sense of purpose if not electoral success. Jim Sillars’ book Scotland: The Case for Optimism, published the year Sturgeon joined the SNP, would have been required reading.


Idealism necessarily fuelled activity, something hardly in short supply among politically motivated teenagers, particularly those on the left, and it is worth pausing to consider Sturgeon’s political worldview as she entered her final year at secondary school. Unsurprisingly, this was a bit black and white. ‘Thatcher’, reflected Sturgeon much later, ‘was the motivation for my entire political career. I hated everything she stood for. This was the genesis of my nationalism. I hated the fact that she was able to do what she was doing and yet nobody I knew in my entire life had voted for her.’ That may have been true, although at that time Cunninghame South was sandwiched between one recently Tory-held seat (Cunninghame North) and Ayr (narrowly retained by George Younger at the 1987 election), while however much the Prime Minister was hated personally 713,081 Scots had still voted for her party in the election, nearly 300,000 more than had backed the SNP. Sturgeon may not personally have encountered any Tory voters, but that was hardly a scientific guide.


Sturgeon’s view of the Labour Party was also unyieldingly critical. Given her age, there was little appreciation of Neil Kinnock’s need to balance principle with presentation in his quest to oust Thatcher. Michael Foot’s focus on the former at the 1983 general election – unilateral disarmament, withdrawal from the EEC and so on – had hardly proved a vote winner. Sturgeon was convinced Labour had ditched its principles whereas the SNP had not, but then of course her chosen party, with little chance of winning a majority of seats in Scotland, arguably had that luxury.


Nevertheless, at this point, Sturgeon’s path was more or less set. She had caught the political bug and therefore, no matter what she did after school, Nationalist activism would play a part. It helped that she continued to excel at school. Roy Kelso remembers writing in her sixth-year report that ‘Nicola was like a good quality red wine that matured with age’,50 although being smart at Greenwood Academy would not necessarily have been seen as a good thing. ‘It was a pretty rough and tumble place,’ recalled fellow pupil Shelley Jofre, ‘the kind of school where it wasn’t easy to be clever and it didn’t make you popular.’51


But, despite the seriousness of politics, photographs from this period show Sturgeon smiling as well as sporting very 1980s haircuts. Gillian, her sister, remembers Nicola adopting a hairdo like Limahl (the lead singer of Kajagoogoo), while, after her 18th birthday in July 1988, the Ship Inn in Irvine became a favourite haunt as Sturgeon prepared to begin a law degree at the University of Glasgow. Much later she confessed to trying cannabis at around this time (‘it made me sick, I really didn’t like it’52), which at least hinted at a rebellious streak, although hardly an untypical one for teenagers on the cusp of leaving home.


Politically, Sturgeon remained active in the Young Scottish Nationalists – indeed, she held a position on its national executive even before turning 18. The SNP used to hold youth weekends in Portsoy in Aberdeenshire, and at one such gathering (‘I know,’ she quipped in 2007, ‘it’s not really what most 18-year-olds do on their holidays’53) Sturgeon first set eyes on her future husband Peter Murrell or, as she later remembered thinking of him, ‘Mr Gadget Man’ by virtue of a belt he wore on which were clipped lots of electronic ‘gizmos’.54 Others who attended the gatherings insist they were fun. ‘We played hard and we worked hard,’ said one. ‘We’d learn about campaigning and also general political education.’55


Dreghorn, meanwhile, would remain an important part of Sturgeon’s personal and political identity long after she had left home; there was to be no Thatcher-like abandonment of her modest roots. Ullrich recalls Sturgeon returning from university for branch meetings and, decades later, never missing her birthday parties or fundraisers. Even after she became a minister in 2007, she continued to telephone her mother Joan every evening.


Sturgeon later remembered being driven by a ‘very Scottish fear of failure’, which of course was bundled up with her background. ‘I grew up in a working-class family in a workingclass area,’ she reflected, in a way few Scottish or UK politicians of her generation could, ‘and was the first member of my family to go to university.’ But as the journalist Peter Ross judged in his perceptive 2014 profile of Sturgeon, hers was also a recognisable type – ‘the clever girl from the small town; the lass o’ pairts; sensible, dutiful, a grafter’,56 all qualities that would find an outlet at the University of Glasgow.
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